1	IN THE SUPREME COU	RT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA		
2				
3		Flootoonia die Filod		
4	RONALD ROSS,	Electronically Filed NO. 529Apr 20 2010 08:36 a.r Tracie K. Lindeman	n.	
5	Appellant,	Tracie K. Lindeman		
6	VS.	)		
7	THE STATE OF NEVADA,	)		
8		)		
9	Respondent.	)		
10	APDELLANT	L'S ODENING DDIEE		
11		APPELLANT'S OPENING BRIEF		
12	(Appeal from J	Judgment of Conviction)		
13	PHILIP J. KOHN  DAVID ROGER  CLARK COUNTY PUBLIC DEFENDER  CLARK COUNTY DISTRICT ATTORNEY			
14	309 South Third Street, #226 200 Lewis Avenue, 3 <sup>rd</sup> Floor Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2610 Las Vegas, Nevada 89155 (702) 455-4685 (702) 455-4711			
15				
16	Attorney for Appellant	CATHERINE CORTEZ MASTO

#### **STATEMENT OF FACTS**

#### A. Overview

The convictions in this case were largely based on the preliminary hearing testimony of Deja Jarmin, an "unavailable" witness who based his identification of the defendant on his review of the security camera video from Sheikh Shoes, Jarmin's place of employment. This video was never produced to the defense, nor was it played in court.

Appellant has included the security videos from both the Tropicana Hotel and the Santa Fe Station Hotel in his Appendix. (AA 789, 790). Appellant strongly encourages the Court to view both videos as they will aid in the evaluation of several of Appellant's claims, including "sufficiency of the evidence." The State of Nevada will no doubt rely heavily on the perceived infallibility of video evidence in its Answering Brief and tout the fact that Detective Flenner of the Metro Tourist Safety Unit positively identified Ross from the Tropicana video. (AA 673). When that happens, the Court should consider both the poor quality of the Tropicana video, and the fact that Detective Julie Holl, also of the Metro Tourist Safety Unit, positively (and erroneously) identified Ross as the man in the Santa Fe Station video. (AA 788 Screen capture of the Santa Fe Station suspect). See also, (AA 24, 439).

#### B. Evidence at Trial

The State's first witness at trial, Georgia Stathopoulos, testified that on March 17, 2007 at approximately 1:00 p.m., she was playing penny slots at the Tropicana Hotel. (AA 562-563). Her purse, which contained a wallet with her identification and credit card, was sitting on a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> Ross received numerous sentences of 10 years to life, two of which were run consecutively. **AA** 785.

nearby chair to her left. (AA 564). The purse was <u>not</u> on Ms. Stathopoulos's person. *Id.* The zipper of the purse was open and the wallet was inside. (AA 565).

Suddenly, Ms. Stathopoulos' slot machine began making noise, indicating that she had won something. (AA 566). While this was going on, she was approached by two black males. The two "very friendly" men asked her what she had won. *Id.* Ms. Stathopoulos engaged the man to her left in a brief conversation, while barely sparing a glance away from her machine. *Id. See also*, (AA 790 Video Surveillance Recording).<sup>6</sup>

Understandably distracted by her slot machine, Ms. Stathopoulos "didn't pay close attention" to the men. (AA 578). Ms. Stathopoulos did not see either of the two men take her wallet; she only noticed it missing after she returned to her room. (AA 581-582). When asked how old the men looked, she answered "teenagers, 20's, 30's." *Id.*<sup>7</sup> She could not describe what either man was wearing, how tall they were, whether one man was taller than the other, whether the man she spoke with had an unusual accent, whether he had facial hair, or any other physical details except race. (AA 578-581). Despite this, she affirmatively identified Ronald Ross as the man who took her wallet. (AA 566). At the time of her "identification," Ross was the only black man seated next to defense counsel. The sign on his table read "defendant."

After discovering her wallet missing, Ms. Stathopoulos called her credit card company. She was informed that someone had used her card to purchase items from Sheikh Shoes. (AA 584, 590). She called Sheikh Shoes and spoke to a clerk named Deja Jarmin. (AA 585). Jarmin informed her that the card had been used, but that he did not check the identification of the person who used it. (AA 588).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> When reviewing the video, the Court should note that Ms. Stathopoulos is focused on her machine. She glances at the man to her left only briefly, and when she does, only his profile is visible.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> Mr. Ross was born January 20, 1970. At the time of the incident he was 37 years old.

Jarmin's testimony was instrumental in establishing Ross's identity as the man who entered Sheikh Shoes and used Stathopoulos's card. His positive identification formed the basis for Ross's arrest, and ultimately, Stathopoulos' identification of Ross. Interestingly, however, Jarmin did not testify at trial.

On November 4, 2008, Deputy District Attorney Walsh announced that the State was "ready" for trial, but in truth, her office had received no indication whether Jarmin, an indispensible witness, would actually appear at trial. (AA 519). The State's investigator admitted that he "never had personal contact with Deja Jarmin." (AA 523). Deputy D.A. Walsh made no record of this during the calendar call. She simply announced that the State was "ready" for trial.

On the first day of trial, D.A. Walsh informed the Court that Mr. Jarmin would not be present. According to Walsh, Jarmin's girlfriend informed the State's investigator that Jarmin was in a hospital in California. *Id.* Thus, the State made an untimely oral motion on the first day of trial to admit Jarmin's preliminary hearing testimony. *Id.* The defense opposed the motion because admitting the preliminary hearing transcript would violate the defendant's Sixth Amendment right of confrontation. (AA 529). The defense first moved to exclude the transcript and then, as an alternative, asked that the State request a continuance under <u>Bustos v. Sheriff.</u>8 (AA 532). The District Court improperly ruled in favor of the State, admitting Jarmin's transcript in lieu of live testimony.

Jarmin testified, by way of his preliminary hearing transcript, that he recognized "the defendant" as a customer of Sheikh Shoes, and stated that he viewed a security video showing

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> 87 Nev. 622, 491 P.2d 1279 (1971). Of course, the State would not have qualified for a continuance under <u>Bustos</u> since they failed to exercise proper diligence in locating the witness and, given that they never received a promise to appear, could not fairly claim "surprise" at Jarmin's absence. *Id*.

5 6

8

9

96).

10

11

12 13

15 16

14

17

18 19

20 21

22

23 24

25

27

28

26

Jarmin identified Ross as the man who used the credit card based, not on his recollection but his review of the video. (AA 599). Jarmin did not know Ross by name, nor did he

him buying something from Sheikh Shoes on March 17, 2007. He stated that, in the video, the

defendant was wearing a "t-shirt and maybe a jersey." (AA 592). As with the preliminary

Jarmin recalled that "the defendant" paid with a credit card, but Jarmin never looked at the name

on the card, nor did he check the identification of the person presenting it. Id. Jarmin produced

a receipt that he believed to be from the transaction and it was admitted into evidence. (AA 595-

someone had used her card at Sheikh Shoes without authorization. Jarmin could not recall who

had made the purchase, so he and his fellow employees reviewed the security video. Several

days later, Jarmin reviewed the video again in the presence of Detective Flenner, the

investigating officer. (AA 599, 605). After reviewing the video, Jarmin and two other store

employees were shown photo arrays including Ronald Ross's picture. They identified Ross as

the man they saw in the security video. Jarmin was allowed to testify as to the contents of this

video over Ross's Best Evidence Rule objection. (AA 25); See NRS 52.235, et seq.

Jarmin rang-up the purchases that were made on Stathopoulos's card. (AA 593).

About an hour after the transaction, Jarmin received Ms. Stathopoulos's call stating that

hearing, this video was never shown in court.9

remember Ross making a purchase with Stathopoulos's credit card. (AA 599). His testimony

about the transaction was merely a recounting of what he viewed on the security video. (AA

606). However, the video was never played in court, nor was it ever produced to the defense. In

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Thus, an absent witness was allowed to testify about the contents of a video that was never admitted into evidence.

6 7

8

9 10

11 12

13 14

15

16

17

18 19

20 21

22 23

24

25

26 27

28

fact, though he was fully aware of its existence, Detective Flenner allowed the video to be destroyed. (AA 607).

The State proceeded to call additional witnesses from Sheikh Shoes, but none offered any direct evidence that the defendant committed a crime. Luis Valdez remembered that Ross (or a man resembling him) was inside the store on March 17th, and a few times after that date as well. (AA 618). He did not personally observe Ross use a credit card to make a purchase on March 17th. In fact, he only learned about the "stolen credit card" after speaking to the detectives. (AA 622).

The police showed Valdez a receipt that they believed to be from the defendant's transaction and told him the credit card had been stolen. (AA 623). So Valdez was not testifying from his personal knowledge at all. He was merely recounting what he heard from detectives who got their information from Jarmin, who got his information from the security tape that was never produced at trial.10

Kevin Hancock, another Sheikh Shoes employee, also testified. The security footage formed the basis for all of Hancock's testimony as well, since he did not personally observe the defendant in the store on March 17th. (AA 654). Hancock testified that he knew the man in the video as "Phillie," and that he had seen him in the store before. (AA 630-31, 645, 647). He could not recall what "Phillie" was wearing in the video, or what his hair looked like. (AA 657). Hancock could not make out the name on the credit card "Phillie" used in the security video. (AA 658). Interestingly, Hancock testified that the security footage was from 12:53 p.m., at least seven minutes **before** Stathopoulos' credit card was stolen. (AA 659).

Hancock also explained that the security footage was saved on a digital system that was set to purge itself automatically after a certain period of time. The video was not immediately

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> For those keeping score, that is *triple* hearsay.

saved and produced to the police because no one at the store knew how the equipment worked. Eventually, a technician was contacted to help operate the system, but by then it was too late. (AA 638).

Neither Valdez nor Hancock personally observed the transaction involving Ms. Stathopoulos's credit card. Valdez's testimony was based mostly on hearsay and Hancock simply testified about the security video he saw 18 months earlier. (AA 608). Naturally, all the witnesses were able to identify the man sitting behind the "defendant" sign as "the defendant" during the trial.

Lead investigating officer, Detective Flenner, closed the State's evidence. Flenner testified that he reviewed the Sheikh Shoes security video and that he recognized the man in the video by name as Ronald Ross. Flenner informed the jury that he was "familiar" with Ronald Ross prior to March 17, 2007. (AA 680). He also claimed to recognize the man in the static-filled, black and white Tropicana video as Ronald Ross; an incredible claim given the video's poor quality. (AA 790, Tropicana Video).

Recognizing the obvious evidentiary importance of the Sheikh Shoes video, Flenner asked the store's regional manager for a copy. Flenner was informed that no one knew how to copy the video from the computer to a DVD. (AA 680-81). Although Flenner had physical access to the system, he personally made no attempt to copy the video. Flenner did not send out a Crime Scene Analyst or Metro computer technician to preserve the video, nor did he seize the hard drive. As a result, the video was destroyed during the routine computer purge.

Though he was never noticed as an expert, Detective Flenner was allowed to offer expert testimony about "distract thefts." (AA 669-679). As with any expert, the State began its direct

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>11</sup> Apparently, nobody was interested in, say, *reading the instruction manual*. After all, it is just evidence in a felony case.

"crimes that occur at hotels... certain burglaries, larcenies, pickpockets, distracts [and] auto burglaries." (AA 669). Flenner then offered his expert analysis of the Tropicana security video and his *opinion* about what the jury was seeing. (AA 670-679). Even though the video did not clearly show it, in Flenner's *expert opinion*, Ross used his jacket to mask the theft of the wallet and transfer the stolen property to his co-conspirator. (AA 674-675,728). The jury must have credited Flenner's expert testimony, as it returned convictions on all counts.

examination of Flenner by discussing his qualifications in the field of "tourist crimes," including

#### **ARGUMENT**

I. THE DISTRICT COURT'S DECISION TO ADMIT THE PRELIMINARY HEARING TRANSCRIPT OF DEJA JARMIN VIOLATED APPELLANT'S SIXTH AMENDMENT RIGHT TO CONFRONT THE WITNESSES AGAINST HIM AND THE BEST EVIDENCE RULE OF NRS 52.235.

#### A. Law governing the use of preliminary hearing transcripts at trial:

Every defendant has a Sixth Amendment right to confront the witnesses against him. See Crawford v. Washington, 541 U.S. 36, 124 S.Ct. 1354 (2004). "Face-to-face confrontation is the foundation upon which the United States Supreme Court's Confrontation Clause jurisprudence evolved." Chavez v. State, 213 P.3d 476, 484 (2009). However, Nevada allows prosecutors to use a preliminary hearing transcript at trial if they can prove the witness is legally "unavailable" and that defense counsel had an adequate opportunity to cross-examine the witness. See Hernandez v. State 188 P.3d 1126, 1128-1130 (2008); Chavez, supra, 213 P.3d at 484; Crawford, supra, 541 U.S. at 53-54, 124 S.Ct. 1354.

The opinion in <u>Chavez v. State</u>, *supra*, directly addresses the use of preliminary hearing transcripts at trial in light of <u>Crawford</u>. The <u>Chavez</u> Court held that "a preliminary hearing *can* afford a defendant an adequate opportunity to confront witnesses against him," but that the "adequacy of the opportunity to confront will be decided on a case-by-case basis." *Id.* at 482-

483 (emphasis added). The Court reviews such matters *de novo*, and analysis turns "upon the discovery available to the defendant at the time and the manner in which the magistrate judge allow[ed] the cross-examination to proceed." *Id.* at 482.

Generally, the State is required to file a motion to admit a preliminary hearing transcript at least 15 days before the start of trial. See EDCR 3.20(a); EDCR 3.28; NRS 174.125. The Court may consider an untimely motion, but only if the motion is supported by "an affidavit or sworn testimony regarding its efforts to procure the witness prior to the pretrial motion deadline." Hernandez, supra, 188 P.3d at 1131. Again, the existence of "good cause" is a mixed question of law and fact that requires de novo review. Id. Thus, in reviewing the district court's decision to admit Deja Jarmin's preliminary hearing transcript, this Court must consider four questions:

- 1) Did the State demonstrate good cause for failing to timely file its motion to admit Jarmin's transcript?
- 2) Did the State prove that Deja Jarmin was actually unavailable for trial?
- 3) Did the State exercise reasonable diligence in procuring Jarmin's attendance?
- 4) Did defense counsel have an adequate opportunity to cross-examine Jarmin?

  If the answer to any of these three questions is "no," then Ross's Confrontation Clause rights were *violated* and this case must be *reversed*.
  - B. The District Court erred when it admitted Deja Jarmin's preliminary hearing transcript.
  - 1) The State did not demonstrate "good cause" for failing to file a timely motion to admit Jarmin's transcript.

When the State makes a late request to use a preliminary hearing transcript, it must submit an affidavit or other sworn testimony demonstrating good cause for the delay.

Hernandez, supra, 188 P.3d at 1131.<sup>12</sup> Here, the State gave no indication of its intent to use Jarmin's transcript until the morning of trial, a move that blindsided defense counsel. (AA 519). The State had no valid reason for this delay.

Four-Hundred-Thirty-Four days transpired between the preliminary hearing and the trial. Not once, in over a year, did the prosecution directly communicate with Deja Jarmin. (AA 523, Ln. 6-7). During her oral motion to admit the transcript, D.A. Walsh gave her reason for failing to file a timely motion: "We didn't file the motion prior to calendar call because we were also **very optimistic** that we would be able to find Deja, given the fact that he was very cooperative at the preliminary hearing, albeit it was over a year ago." (AA 525-526) (Emphasis added). So, the State's "good cause" for missing their filing deadline was *unbridled optimism* that a man they had not heard from in 434 days would suddenly appear on the first day of trial.

Matthew Johns, the State's investigator, testified that he began serving subpoena's in the case on October 16<sup>th</sup>, approximately four weeks before trial. (AA 521). Johns never received a subpoena return from Jarmin. (AA 523). Johns testified that he served Jarmin's subpoena at "What was once a valid address for him." (AA 522). It is unclear whether Johns ever attempted to serve a subpoena at a "valid" address.

Johns had what he described as a "current" phone number for Jarmin, but he never managed to get Jarmin on the phone. (AA 522-523). Johns said that he made "numerous contacts" with Tammy Henson, Jarmin's girlfriend (or possibly "ex-girlfriend.") *Id.* Johns did not mention when these "numerous" contacts took place, save the last one.

According to Johns, Tammy informed him on the morning of November 12<sup>th</sup> that Jarmin had entered a hospital in San Bernardino, California on November 7<sup>th</sup>. Upon hearing this, Johns attempted to contact some unspecified members of Jarmin's family in San Bernardino. He had

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>12</sup> See also, EDCR 3.20(a), EDCR 3.28 and NRS 174.125.

no success. (AA 523-524). Apparently, Johns waited until the <u>first day of trial</u> to attempt to contact Jarmin's family. Johns did not even *try* to contact any San Bernardino hospitals because he *assumed* that the hospitals would refuse to confirm whether Jarmin was there due to HIPPA regulations. (AA 524).

In <u>Hernandez v. State</u>, the prosecutor made an oral motion to use a preliminary hearing transcript on the first day of trial—exactly the same situation we have here. In reversing the case, the <u>Hernandez Court</u> held that "the procedural safeguards addressed in <u>Bustos</u> should apply to motions to admit preliminary hearing testimony." *Id.* (citing <u>Bustos v. Sheriff</u>, 491 P.2d 1279 (1971)). Among the procedural safeguards of <u>Bustos</u> is the requirement that the State be legitimately surprised by the absence of the witness. *See* <u>Bustos</u> at 1281.

D.A. Walsh could not possibly have been "surprised" by Jarmin's absence. She had no subpoena return, and no one from the prosecutor's office had spoken to Deja Jarmin in over a year. In <u>Bustos</u>, the prosecutor had "every reason to believe the subpoena would be obeyed." By contrast, Walsh had <u>no</u> reason to believe her subpoenas had even been *received*. If Walsh was surprised by Jarmin's absence, it was only because she failed to diligently manage her case.

Lack of diligence does not equal "good cause" for the admission of Jarmin's transcript. The State's motion to admit the transcript should never have been *considered* by the court, much less granted.

### 2) The State did not prove Jarmin was actually unavailable

Under NRS 51.055 a declarant is "unavailable as a witness" if he is "[u]nable to be present or to testify at the hearing because of death or then existing physical or mental illness or infirmity" or he is "beyond the jurisdiction of the court to compel appearance and the proponent

of his statement has exercised reasonable diligence but has been unable to procure his attendance or to take his deposition."

The State provided no direct evidence as to Jarmin's whereabouts. Investigator Johns testified that Jarmin's "girlfriend," Tammy Henson, told him Jarmin was admitted to a hospital on November 7<sup>th</sup> due to a "heart condition." (AA 522-523). Henson apparently did not know the name of the hospital.

This information was completely uncorroborated. Johns could not provide the name of the hospital or specific information about the severity of Jarmin's condition. Johns testified that Jarmin was in California on November 7<sup>th</sup>, but he said nothing about Jarmin's whereabouts on November 12<sup>th</sup>. NRS 51.055 requires proof that the witness is unavailable "at the hearing," not four days *before* the hearing.

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