1	IN THE SUPREME COURT	OF THE STATE OF NEVADA	
2			
3		Electronically Filed	
4 5	DONALD DOGS	Jun 21 2010 04:20 p.m. Tracie K. Lindeman	
	RONALD ROSS,) Hadie K. Eindeman	
6	Appellant,		
7 8)) 	
	THE STATE OF NEVADA,) Case No. 52921	
9	Respondent.		
10			
11		ANSWERING BRIEF	
12	Fighth Judicial District Court, Clark County		
13			
14	PHILIP J. KOHN Clark County Public Defender	DAVID ROGER Clark County District Attorney	
15	Nevada Bar #000556 309 South Third Street, Ste. 226	Nevada Bar #002781 Regional Justice Center	
16	Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2316 (702) 455-4685	200 Lewis Avenue Post Office Box 552212	
17		Las Vegas, Nevada 89155-2212 (702) 671-2500	
18		(702) 671-2500 State of Nevada

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

law as well as the timeframe in which the State had to work with – a matter of hours before trial. (Id. at 521-527). And in light of this testimony, there was sufficient evidence for the District Court to conclude that Jarmin was unavailable to testify at trial within the meaning of Crawford.

C. The State Exercised Reasonable Diligence in Procuring Jarmin's Attendance

Defendant's claim that the State failed to exercise reasonable diligence in getting Jarmin to trial is without merit. Here, Defendant erroneously focuses his argument on the effort the State's investigator made to reach Jarmin at his home. Defendant argued that the investigator's efforts were insufficient to amount reasonable diligence because he took too long subpoending to a "bad address." (Def. Br. at p. 15) However, characterizing Defendant's residence in Clark County as a bad address is flawed. At no point did Jarmin's girlfriend ever tell him that Jarmin did not reside at that address. (III AA at p. 527). Rather, Jarmin's girlfriend said while he may not spend every single night there she still believed that Jarmin considered that residence his home. (Id.). Furthermore, she confirmed the phone number to reach Jarmin was accurate. (Id.). Thus, there was no reason to stop his attempts to contact Jarmin at that address. Moreover, characterizing the State efforts as making "a few phone calls and cross[ing] their fingers" is simply myopic. (Def. Br. at 15: 14-15).

Here, Defendant argument fails to grasp the context of the situation. The State did not learn Jarmin was in a California hospital until the morning of trial. To expect the State to somehow travel to San Bernardino to scour each area hospital for scintilla of evidence of Jarmin's whereabouts and health status just hours before the trial began was unreasonable. The only reasonable and practical efforts the State could make at that juncture was to speak to Jarmin's girlfriend, acquire as many contact numbers for Jarmin's family in California and subsequently call each number received. That is precisely what the State did. Based on the timing and circumstances surrounding when the State learned of this hospitalization and how soon the information was discovered from the time of trial, the State's effort to reach Jarmin were more than reasonably diligent. Accordingly, the District Court properly concluded that the State exercised reasonable diligence in trying to bring Jarmin back to trial.

D. His Rights Were Not Violated, Because Defendant had an Opportunity to Cross Examine Jarmin at the Preliminary Hearing

1 Defendant mistakenly argues that he did not have the opportunity to cross-examine 2 Jarmin at the preliminary hearing. As discussed, a district court cannot admit a preliminary 3 hearing transcript unless the defendant had an adequate opportunity to confront witness within 4 the spirit of Crawford. Chavez, 213 P.3d at 482-83. Here, Defendant's primary argument is 5 inextricably tied to what he considers to be a violation of the Best Evidence Rule. Specifically, 6 that the Jarmin was able to testify about what he viewed on the Sheikh Shoes surveillance 7 footage during the preliminary hearing, despite the fact that the video was inadvertently 8 destroyed and ultimately was not able to be given to Defendant for review. In support of this 9 "Best Evidence" argument, Defendant claims that the State's "entire case" was predicated on 10 videotape evidence. (Def. Br. at p. 16: 3-4). This is simply not true. Here, the State presented 11 multiple witnesses who positively identified Defendant as the man who not only stole the 12 victim's wallet but also subsequently used her credit card to purchase several hundred dollars in 13 merchandise. The record reveals, as discussed infra, that the Sheikh Shoes video was only used 14 to reaffirm what the witnesses already remembered about Defendant illegal purchase. However, 15 Defendant mistakenly claims that since Jarmin's testimony was "entirely" based on what he 16 watched on the videotape, it was therefore impossible for Defendant to have an "opportunity" to 17 cross-examine him during the preliminary hearing, because Defendant did not have a chance to 18 review the video. (Def. Br. at p. 16: 11-17). This argument is flawed for several reasons.

19 First, Defendant should be precluded from raising this issue, because Defendant failed to 20 object not only during the preliminary hearing, but also during trial when the preliminary 21 hearing transcript was admitted. (I AA at p. 14-18; III AA at p. 589-608) This Court has 22 consistently held that the failure to object at trial generally precludes the issue from being 23 reviewed on appeal. Miller v. State, 121 Nev. 92, 110 P.3d 53 (2005). Here, if Defendant 24 believed that it was a violation of the Best Evidence Rule was imminent, Defendant could have 25 raised an objection to that line of questioning during the preliminary hearing. However, 26 Defendant elected not to do so and permitted full questioning by the State regarding the 27 surveillance tape. Furthermore, at trial, Defendant could have sought a redaction of the 28 preliminary hearing transcript to exclude any questions about the video tape when the District Court decided to admit the transcript if he honestly felt that it was improper for the jury to hear Jarmin's testimony about the videotape. However, Defendant allowed the transcript, in its entirety, to be read to the jury. Accordingly, this Court should not consider this argument on appeal and at worst this issue should only be reviewed for plain error. <u>See Id.</u>

5 Second, the record wholly belies Defendant's contention that Jarmin's entire testimony is 6 derived from the videotape. Here, Jarmin testimony is primarily based on his own personal 7 recollection of the events that occurred in the store. Jarmin only used the videotape to confirm 8 his past recollection of what occurred when Defendant entered into the store. Here, Jarmin 9 explained his identification of Defendant and his recollection of what happened in the store 10 when Defendant entered were based on his own memory and that the video only served to 11 reconfirm what he already remembered. (See I AA at p. 14-18). A review of the questions asked 12 of Jarmin further illustrates that fact. During the preliminary hearing there were sixty-six 13 questions asked during Jarmin's direct examination yet only ten discussed the video.

However, the strongest proof of Defendant's mischaracterization Jarmin's testimony as being entirely predicated on viewing the videotape comes from his counsel's cross-examination of Jarmin. During cross-examination, Jarmin clearly explains that his recollection of this crime was derived from his own memory rather than solely what he watched on a videotape. The exchange between Jarmin and defense counsel was as follows:

Q: But you are positive that these two receipts and this printout <u>comes from you seeing my</u>
 <u>client</u> on the 17th of March around two o'clock when he came in and bought almost \$500 worth of shoes?

21 A: <u>Yes.</u>

1

2

3

4

22 Q: And this blue ink signature is something the guy sitting to my left put on this piece of paper? (Indicating)

23 A: <u>Yes, it is.</u>

Q: No question about that?

A: <u>No question.</u>

Q: So you found out - or you heard a visitor to Las Vegas calling up and saying I think someone fraudulently used my card at your place, and then you turned around and in addition to looking it up, you contacted your supervisors?

27 A: Yes.

24

28 Q: They all got together with you before your shift ended?

A: Yes.

Q: And, among other things, you gathered up these papers and ran the videotape *for the time* <u>you remembered him</u> – you remember the transactions possibly to have happened?

1

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

A: From the time that's on the credit card machine, from the time I talked to her. She called me and said that she had talked to her – her credit card company and they reported that the purchase was made for a certain amount with her card. She gave me the number and that's when I found it. It was a match. That's how I knew.

Q: So then you go to it, <u>back it up to the time you think this transaction was supposed to have occurred</u> and watched the cameras that would have focused on wherever you would have been standing and that's what you said you looked at and <u>it showed what you remembered</u> to have happened a couple hours earlier?
 A: Right.

9 (I AA at p. 17: 30: 7 – 18: 32: 24) (emphasis added). This record illustrates Defendant's claim
10 that Jarmin's memories are entirely based on the videotape is baseless. Accordingly, to claim
11 the lack of the video denied Defendant a fair opportunity to adequately cross-examine him is
12 without merit. Defendant did have and took the opportunity to cross-examine him about what he
13 remembered, as noted <u>supra</u>. Consequently, this argument is without merit.

14 Third, Defendant is not entitled to claim that he did not get a full opportunity to crossexamine the witness, when his counsel expressly admitted that he knowingly withheld lines of 15 questioning from the witness during the preliminary hearing as part of their case strategy. (III 16 17 AA at p. 531: 15 - 532: 1). Unlike some other states, Nevada law is very liberal in affording a 18 defendant the right to discovery and cross-examination at a preliminary hearing. Chavez, 213 P.3d at 484. Furthermore, Nevada law is clear that a cross examination during a preliminary 19 20 hearing can satisfy the Confrontation Clause. Id. at 482-83. Thus, Defendant knew or should 21 have known that an unavailable witness was a possibility, and thus, would necessitate the admission of the witness' preliminary hearing testimony. Moreover, in conjunction with 22 23 Nevada's liberal stance on the scope of cross-examination during a preliminary hearing, 24 Defendant knew or should have known that he was free to ask essentially any relevant line of 25 question of each witness. However, during trial, Defense counsel admitted that he willingly did not take the opportunity to fully examine Jarmin during the preliminary hearing. Defense 26 counsel explained to the District Court, prior to its ruling to admit the transcript at trial, 27 28 "[T]here's a series of lines of inquiry that I didn't use at preliminary hearing because, *number*

one, it didn't occur to me, and, number two, I would not use a preliminary hearing examination that way anyway. So to say that I already had a fair chance to question him...and that would take the place of me being able to cross-examine him today if he was here, I think that's just simply not – it's a fiction. It's not true. It doesn't really reflect the way we do preliminary hearings as defense attorneys...." (III AA at p. 531: 15 - 532: 1) (emphasis added).

6 Despite Defendant's protestations on appeal, the record makes it evident that the only 7 thing that held back the scope of Defendant's cross-examination during the preliminary hearing 8 was the tactical choices of Defendant. Whether or not it "occurred" to counsel that he should 9 fully cross-examine this witness or whether or not defense counsel simply does not "do" a 10 preliminary hearing in that particular fashion is immaterial. Nevada law is structured to enable a 11 defendant the full opportunity to cross-examine a witness, precisely because unavailable 12 witnesses do happen from time to time. If Defendant elected to not take that opportunity be it 13 through tactical strategy or ignorance, he cannot now claim on appeal that the District Court 14 denied him the opportunity to cross-examine this witness. The only limits on Defendant's cross-15 examination were through his own doing and accordingly his argument fails.

It is clear that based on all of the aforementioned reasons that Defendant received a full and fair opportunity to cross-examine Jarmin during the preliminary hearing. To the extent that Defendant's raised any further "Best Evidence" arguments in its first ground for relief, the State applies all of the arguments its sets forth in its response to Defendant's second ground for relief, infra at p. 14-17, which is Defendant's claim that the Best Evidence Rule was violated as a result of the District Court permitting testimony about the inadvertently destroyed videotape from Sheikh Shoes.

23

1

2

3

4

5

E. <u>The Record Illustrates That the District Court Properly Admitted the Preliminary</u> <u>Hearing Transcript</u>

As discussed above, none of Defendant's arguments provide a legitimate legal basis to find the District Court's ruling in error. Here, the record supports the District Court's determination that the motion was made in good faith, the witness was, based on the totality of the circumstances, unavailable and Defendant was afforded the opportunity to cross-examine Jarmin at the preliminary hearing. Accordingly, the District Court's ruling should be upheld.

2

3

4

5

6

7

8

9

10

11

12

1

II. TESTIMONY DISCUSSING AN INADVERTENTLY DESTROYED SURVEILLANCE TAPE WAS NOT A VIOLATION OF THE BEST EVIDENCE RULE

Defendant's second ground for relief is the argument that the District Court erred in admitting any witness testimony about the contents of an inadvertently destroyed surveillance tape from the Sheikh Shoes store. (Def. Br. p. 18-21). As discussed, trial courts possess extensive discretion in determining the relevance and admissibility of evidence, and their rulings should not be disturbed absent a clear abuse of that discretion. <u>Crowley</u>, 120 Nev. 30, 83 P.3d 282 (2004). Specifically, Defendant claims that there were two violations: 1) Jarmin's preliminary hearing testimony regarding the Sheikh Shoes surveillance tape that was ultimately admitted at trial and 2) Detective Flenner and the other two Sheikh Shoes surveillance tape. (Def. Br. at p. 19). Defendant's claim for relief fails for a number of reasons.

13

A. Defendant Waived His Right to Appeal this Issue

Defendant waived this issue on appeal by failing to object to the matter either at trial or in the case of Jarmin, at the preliminary hearing. On appeal, Defendant claimed that defense counsel presumably preserved his right to make a best evidence objection on appeal as it relates to Jarmin's preliminary hearing testimony as well as Flenner's and the other Sheikh Shoe employees' trial testimony about the surveillance tape by citing to I AA at p. 25, 31. A review of those citations demonstrates that Defendant claim is utterly belied the record and reflects a disingenuous attempt, at best, to misconstrue the record.

In each instance cited by Defendant, defense counsel made a best evidence objection to 21 testimony completely unrelated to any testimony about the Sheikh Shoes surveillance tape. At I 22 AA at p. 25 of the record, Defendant made a best evidence objection to Detective Holl's 23 preliminary hearing testimony about a surveillance tape from the Sante Fe hotel. At I AA at p. 24 31, Defendant made a best evidence objection about Flenner's preliminary hearing testimony 25 about a surveillance tape from the Tropicana Hotel. Defendant's claim that these "best evidence" 26 objections preserved for appeal the issue of whether the best evidence rule was violated during 27 testimony about the Sheikh Shoes surveillance tape utterly fails for the following reasons. 28

First, neither objection involved the correct surveillance tape in question on appeal. These objections dealt with a Santa Fe Hotel and a Tropicana Hotel surveillance tape, not the Sheikh Shoes surveillance tape. Second, these objections did not involve the purported testimony in question on appeal. These objections dealt with Detective Holl's testimony about her Sante Fe theft investigation and what Detective Flenner viewed on the Tropicana Hotel surveillance tape. It had absolutely nothing to do with Jarmin, Detective Flenner or the other two Sheikh Shoes employees' testimony about what they saw on the Sheikh Shoes videotape. Third, a review of the actual record of the four witnesses' testimony proves that not only did Defendant not raise a single objection to any of these witnesses testifying about the content of the surveillance tape, but also defense counsel asked extensive questions about what each witness actually saw on the tape. (See I AA at p. 14-18, III AA at p. 608-25; 628-59; 668-700). Accordingly, Defendant is now estopped for raising the matter now on appeal and this Court can only review the matter for plain error. Miller, 121 Nev. at 92, 110 P.3d at 53.

B. <u>There is No Best Evidence Violation Because the Tape Was Inadvertently</u> Destroyed.

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